FILED SID I WHITE OCT 6 19941

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By .

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES H. COX, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NUMBER: 84,004 District Court of Appeal 1st District - No. 91-4159

KIMI LEA COX,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MCCAULEY & PETERS CARROLL L. MCCAULEY Florida Bar #112229 36 Oak Avenue Panama City, FL 32401 904 769-0276

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief petitioner-former husband, JAMES H. COX, JR., will be referred to as "husband." Respondent-former wife, KIMI LEA COX, will be referred to as "wife."

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated "R" followed by the page number. References to the transcript will be designated "T" followed by the page number. References to the Appendix will be designated "A" followed by the page number.

iv

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 31, 1990, husband, James H. Cox, Jr., filed a petition for dissolution of marriage in Bay County, Florida. (R 1). Wife filed an answer and counter-petition for dissolution of marriage. (R 11). This was the second marriage of the parties to one another. Their first marriage was dissolved by a final judgment of divorce obtained by agreement in the Territory of Guam on March 2, 1988. (A 1).

Prior to trial the parties entered into a written stipulation that addressed and resolved the issues of custody, child support, and rehabilitative alimony. The stipulation was adopted by the trial court in the final judgment of dissolution of marriage. (R 103-112).

The case was tried on the issues of wife's entitlement to a portion of husband's military retirement benefits or in the alternative permanent periodic alimony, and wife's claim for payment of attorney's fees by husband. After trial of the case and submission of written arguments and memoranda by counsel, the court entered its final judgment. The final judgment denied wife's claim for a portion of husband's future military retirement benefits, denied wife's

claim for permanent periodic alimony, and awarded wife threefourths of her attorney's fees and costs.

The final judgment contained specific findings upholding the validity of the marital settlement agreement made in the parties' first divorce in Guam. The trial court found that:

1. The Guam agreement was free from duress, coercion, misrepresentation or overreaching.

2. The agreement did not make unfair or unreasonable provisions for wife under the circumstances of the parties at that time. The court noted that the agreement included provisions requiring husband to pay approximately \$35,360 in marital debt; rehabilitative alimony for four years; child support equal to 35% of husband's gross income less taxes; and medical, dental, eye care, and college tuition for the children.

3. The agreement was not procured under circumstances involving any concealment by husband or real lack of knowledge by wife. (A 24).

In its denial of permanent alimony the trial court noted in its final judgment the short duration of the marriage and the rehabilitative alimony agreed to by the parties.

On June 30, 1994, the First District Court of Appeal filed its opinion. The district court rule that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to void the Guam agreement and in failing to award wife any portion of

husband's military retirement. The court further ruled that the remarriage of the parties did not itself void the marital settlement agreement as a matter of law. It was, however, an abuse of discretion for the trial court to fail to void the agreement in this particular case. The court also certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance:

Does reconciliation or remarriage void a property settlement agreement or separation agreement as a matter of law?

(A 39).

Husband filed a timely notice of appeal of the order of the district court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Husband, James H. Cox, Jr., and wife, Kimi Lea Cox, were first married to one another on August 11, 1978, in Fulton, Arkansas. There were four children, Renda Joy Cox, born July 25, 1977, who was legally adopted by husband; Carrie Elaine Cox, born April 5, 1979; Joel Ryan Cox, born May 11, 1981; and Craig Michael Cox, born December 16, 1985. (R 1). Prior to the marriage husband was in the United State Air Force reserves with a brief period of active duty. Husband was recalled to active duty as a first lieutenant in May 1979. (T 23). Husband has been on active duty since that date and held the rank of major on the date of final hearing. (T 16, 22).

In 1988 the parties and the children were living in Guam. Husband was stationed on the western Pacific island at that time. (T 41). Martial difficulties occurred and the parties agreed that they would obtain an uncontested divorce in Guam. (T 54). Husband located a divorce lawyer through the newspaper and the parties contacted the lawyer together. The lawyer advised that he could only represent one party, but each had the option of obtaining a separate attorney. (T 25).

The parties were given forms to fill out and return. (T 26).

Following their visit to the lawyer, wife consulted at least twice with her brother, an Arkansas attorney. Wife discussed with her brother various issues in the case, including husband's military retirement and the amount of child support. (T 27-30).

In their settlement negotiations husband would not agree to assign to wife any portion of his future military retirement benefits. (T 28). The parties completed their negotiations and reached an agreement. Wife returned to the Guamanian lawyer and filed a petition for divorce. Wife obtained an uncontested final judgment of divorce that included a fully executed and detailed marital settlement agreement. The marital settlement agreement included provisions for payment by husband of child support in an amount equal to 35% of husband's monthly income; payment of college tuition for the children; medical and dental insurance for the children until age 24; rehabilitative alimony to wife for a period of four years; distribution of the personal property; and payment by husband of approximately \$35,000 in marital liabilities. (A 2).

Following their divorce in Guam, wife and the

children returned to the United States. Both parties dated other people. Each disposed of an IRA from their marriage. (T 34, 50). In May 1989 husband returned to the states and was assigned to Tyndall Air Force Base in Bay County, Florida. (T 32). In August 1989 wife and the children joined husband in Florida, and in November 1989 the parties remarried. Shortly after their remarriage marital problems again occurred, and in December 1990 husband filed for dissolution of the marriage.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was no abuse of discretion by the trial court in its denial of wife's claim for permanent alimony, or in the alternative, a portion of husband's military retirement benefits. In the exercise of its discretion the trial court was called upon to determine the validity of the parties' Guam divorce agreement. After receiving and weighing the testimony of the parties and other evidence, the court determined that the agreement was valid. The court made specific findings concerning the circumstances and effect of the agreement. The findings were based upon competent substantial evidence in the The district court, in reversing the trial court, record. impermissibly re-weighed and re-evaluated the evidence and improperly substituted its judgment for that of the trial court.

The opinion of the district court contains no mention or discussion of the inter-related provisions of the Guam agreement and the inter-related provisions of the judgment of the trial court. It must be inferred that the district court made an improper piecemeal review of the agreement and final judgment.

The question certified by the district court to the Supreme Court should be answered in the negative. Reconciliation or remarriage should not as a matter of law operate to void a prior separation or property settlement agreement. The better approach to determination of the effect of reconciliation or remarriage on separation or property settlement agreements involves the use of the trial court's broad discretion to determine the circumstances surrounding execution of the agreement, its fairness or lack of fairness, and the intention of the parties following reconciliation or remarriage.

ARGUMENT

I.

THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION BY THE TRIAL COURT IN DENYING WIFE PORTION A OF HUSBAND'S MILITARY RETIREMENT BENEFITS; THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION CONTAINS APPROPRIATE FINDINGS OF FACT SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, THUS THE DISTRICT COURT IMPERMISSIBLY SUBSTITUTED ITS JUDGMENT FOR THAT OF THE TRIAL COURT.

The First District Court of Appeal has certified to the Supreme Court a question of great public importance. The scope of the Supreme Court's review of the decision of the district court, however, is not limited to the certified question. <u>Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co.</u>, 128 So. 2d 594 (Fla. 1961); <u>Hillsborough Association for Retarded Citizens, Inc. v.</u> <u>City of Temple Terrace</u>, 332 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1976). Husband respectfully asks the Court to review and consider the correctness of the decision of the district court in its entirety.

The trial court's decision to uphold the validity of the Guam agreement and to deny wife's claim to an interest in husband's military retirement benefits were discretionary decisions. <u>Thomas v. Thomas</u>, 571 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); <u>Mills v. Mills</u>, 460 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

These were decisions that required the application of the trial court's broad discretionary authority rather than the application of a legal principle to the facts of the case. Therefore, the standard of review by the district court of the trial court's decision is the "abuse of discretion" standard. Mercer v. Raine, 443 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 1983).

In dissolution of marriage proceedings the trial judge possesses broad discretionary authority to do equity and justice between the parties. Absent an abuse of discretion a ruling should not be reversed on appeal. An alleged abuse of discretion is determined by a general standard of reasonableness. In <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980), the Supreme Court stated the following:

In reviewing a true discretionary act, the appellate court must fully recognize the superior vantage point of the trial judge and should apply the "reasonableness" test to determine whether the trial judge abused his discretion. If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then the act is not unreasonable and there can be no finding of an abuse of discretion. The discretionary ruling of the trial judge should be disturbed only when his decision fails to satisfy the test of reasonableness.

In reviewing the ruling of the trial judge the question for the appellate court is whether reasonable persons informed by

the experience of a trial judge with full knowledge of all relevant and material facts could differ as to the action taken.

When a decision is based on the exercise of discretion it is incumbent upon the trial court to make written findings in support of its decision. 5 Am. Jur. 2d <u>Appeal and Error</u> §840. In the case at bar the trial court fully and precisely set forth its reasons for denying wife's claim to husband's military retirement.

First, the trial court found that the marital settlement agreement of the parties in their first divorce is a valid agreement. As such, it settled all property rights of the parties existing at the time of the agreement, and precludes a later action by either party to determine those rights. <u>Dotter v. Dotter</u>, 147 So. 2d 209 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962); <u>Mason v. Mason</u>, 371 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). The trial court specifically found that wife had access to independent counsel as well as additional legal advice through her brother. The court noted that the evidence did not establish that the agreement was reached by fraud, duress, coercion, misrepresentation, or overreaching. The evidence, as weighed by the trial court, did not establish any concealment by

husband nor any real lack of knowledge by wife at the time the agreement was reached.

The trial court also specifically found that the agreement was not unfair to wife in its provisions. The court noted that husband assumed \$35,360 of marital debts including the debt on wife's vehicle, contributed 35% of his gross pay less taxes to the support of the children, paid wife rehabilitative alimony for four years, and assumed responsibility for payment of medical, dental, eye care, and college tuition expenses for the children.

The trial court's written findings on the validity of the parties' agreement in their first divorce are supported by competent substantial evidence in the record on appeal. Although the evidence is somewhat conflicting, husband testified that negotiations between the parties included husband's retirement benefits. Wife was assisted in the negotiations by her brother, an attorney. As to wife's claim that she did not even know husband's income at the time of the first divorce, the record discloses that the parties filed joint income tax returns and purchased two homes together during the marriage. (T 82). The trial court properly found that wife had no real lack of knowledge of the income and

assets of the parties at the time of the first divorce.

Under Florida law a trial court's findings supported by competent substantial evidence should be upheld on appeal. Clegg v. Chipola Aviation, Inc. 458 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Charles R. Perry Const., Inc. v. Barry Gibson & Associates, Inc., 523 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). Notwithstanding the specific findings of the trial court and the presence in the record of competent substantial evidence to support the findings, the district court decided that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to void the Guam agreement and award wife a portion of husband's military retirement benefits. In its opinion the district court commented on the quality of wife's legal representation in the Guam divorce, the level of education of the parties, the number of moves made during the marriage, the work history of wife, and wife's version only of the extent of her knowledge of husband's income and her entitlement to a portion of husband's military retirement. (A 24). The district court's emphasis of these facts in its opinion strongly suggests that the court impermissibly re-weighed and re-evaluated the evidence and improperly substituted its judgment for that of the trial court through its re-evaluation of the evidence.

In <u>Shaw v. Shaw</u>, 334 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1976), on remand 336 So. 2d 1282 (1976), this Court explained the function of the appellate court as follows:

It is not the function of the appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court through re-evaluation of the testimony and evidence from the record on appeal before it. The test . . . is whether the judgment of the trial court is supported by competent evidence. Subject to the appellate court's right to reject "inherently incredible and improbable testimony or evidence," it is not the prerogative of an appellate court, upon a de novo consideration of the record, to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court.

In the case at bar, the trial court in the exercise of its discretionary authority made specific findings to support and explain its denial of wife's claim for a portion husband's retirement benefits. of There is competent substantial evidence in the record to support each of the trial court's findings. On appeal the district court impermissibly re-weighed and re-evaluated the evidence. The district court then improperly substituted its judgment for that of the trial court. Reversal of the order of the district court is therefore required.

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EMPLOYED AN IMPERMISSIBLE PIECEMEAL APPROACH TO CONSIDERATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE PARTIES' FINAL DECREE OF DIVORCE IN GUAM AND THE FINAL JUDGMENT OF DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE IN FLORIDA.

Although the only issue on appeal to the district court was wife's entitlement to a portion of husband's military retirement, the district court was required to examine, consider, and render its decision based upon all provisions of the Guam agreement and the Florida final judgment. Both the Guam agreement and the final judgment of the trial court contain provisions relating to distribution of marital assets and liabilities, child support, rehabilitative alimony, and attorney's fees. These provisions are interrelated. They were fashioned both by stipulation of the parties and by the trial court in the exercise of its broad discretionary authority. <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

The opinion of the district court makes no mention whatsoever of the provisions of the Guam agreement which required husband to pay 35% of his gross income after taxes for child support, which distributed to husband all of the

marital liabilities totalling approximately \$35,360, and which required husband to pay rehabilitative alimony for four years. Likewise the opinion of the district court does not even acknowledge the provisions of the Florida final judgment which set forth husband's child support obligation, his obligation to pay rehabilitative alimony, his assumption of approximately \$43,000 in marital liabilities, and his payment of threefourths of wife's attorney's fees. It must be inferred that the district court failed or declined to examine either the Guam agreement or the Florida judgment as a whole in its determination of whether the trial court abused its discretion.

In <u>Hamlet v. Hamlet</u>, 583 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1991), this Court specifically prohibited the type of piecemeal review conducted by the district court in the case at bar. In <u>Hamlet</u> the Court reviewed a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal which reversed the trial court's award of alimony to wife. The district court had adopted the view that where substantial assets were distributed between the parties, the trial court has no authority to award permanent periodic alimony. This was not only the application of an erroneous rule of law, but a piecemeal approach to consideration of a

final judgment. This Court held that the review of a trial court's exercise of discretion must be conducted by examination and consideration of the judgment as a whole.

In Ugarte v. Ugarte, 608 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), husband appealed the amount of alimony and child support awarded to wife by the trial court. Husband did not appeal the distribution of assets or other inter-related provisions of the final judgment. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the final judgment. The court stated that the type of piecemeal review requested by husband is prohibited. In the review of a final judgment it is the role and obligation of the district court to consider the overall scheme of distribution to determine if the court reasonably exercised its discretion.

In the case at bar, it appears that the district court made an impermissible piecemeal determination that wife should receive a portion of husband's military retirement. The district court made no mention of any of the other interrelated provisions of either the Guam agreement or the Florida judgment. It was the burden of wife to present a record to the district court that would allow it to determine that the trial court made an unreasonable or unfair disposition of

wife's claims. Neither the record nor the opinion of the district court show mathematically or otherwise that wife was shortchanged in either the Guam divorce or the Florida dissolution of marriage proceeding.

IN ANSWER TO THE QUESTION CERTIFIED TO THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT, RECONCILIATION OR REMARRIAGE DOES NOT VOID A PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT OR SEPARATION AGREEMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The question certified by the First District Court of Appeal to the Supreme Court should be answered in the negative. That is, reconciliation or remarriage does not as a matter of law void a property settlement agreement or separation agreement.

There is a significant degree of uncertainty in the law of Florida concerning the effect of remarriage or reconciliation upon separation and property settlement agreements. In <u>Weeks v. Weeks</u>, 197 So. 2d 393, 395, (Fla. 1940), a decision that was discussed below by the district court, there is the broad pronouncement that:

It appears to be well settled that the reconciliation of husband and wife and the resumption of marital relations for any period of time will render a previous contract and settlement of property rights void . . .

The use of the term "void" implies that the agreement is a nullity and no rights are acquired under it. Such a contract requires no disaffirmance to avoid it and cannot be validated

III.

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