FEB 16 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Citief Deputy Clark

JAMES H. COX, JR.,

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Petitioner, Appellant,

VS.

KIMI LEA COX,

Respondent, Appellee.

DOCKET NO.: 84,004

(First DCA Case No.: 91-4159)

An Appeal from a Judgment of the FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PAMELA DRU SUTTON Fla. Bar No.: 0274356 STONE & SUTTON, P.A. 116 East Fourth Street Panama City, FL 32401 (904) 785-7272 ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT, APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mrs. Cox was entitled to a proportionate share of Mr. Cox's military retirement benefits equivalent to one half of the benefits accrued during each of the parties' two marriages. The trial judge did not find that the reconciliation and remarriage of the parties following their first divorce abrogated the marital settlement agreement entered into during that first divorce. Therefore, the trial judge did not equitably apportion the assets acquired by the parties during both marriages. This was error.

A long line of Florida cases, beginning with *Weeks v. Weeks*, 197 So. 393 (Fla. 1940) and *Miller v. West Palm Beach Atlantic Nat. Bank et al.*, 194 So. 230 (Fla. 1940), holds that the executory provisions of a marital settlement agreement will be deemed abrogated by a subsequent reconciliation of the parties, absent evidence that the parties intended otherwise. The First District Court of Appeal, in reversing the trial judge in this case, held that the proper standard to apply in evaluating a trial judge's determination of whether to find that reconciliation abrogates an unexecuted provision of a marital settlement agreement is "abuse of discretion," focusing on the circumstances of each particular case.

The Husband's position is that a prior marital settlement agreement should not be abrogated upon reconciliation absent evidence that the parties intended it to be abrogated. This formulation has not been employed in Florida and is contrary to public policy.

Whether the determination concerning the abrogation of an agreement by reconciliation is based on legal rules or on a discretionary consideration of many

factors, the facts of this case compel the determination that the parties' first marital settlement agreement should have been deemed abrogated by their remarriage.

The Husband has argued that the First District Court's decision was in fact an impermissible reweighing of the factors considered by the trial court and that the First District Court took a "piecemeal" approach toward analyzing the trial court's decision. To the contrary, the record demonstrates that the trial court failed to perform any equitable distribution analysis and that the First District Court of Appeal, not the trial court, was evaluating the overall fairness of the result, as required by *Canakaris v. Canakaris*, 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

As an independent point, which the Wife argues in the alternative, the Wife should have been entitled to have the prior marital settlement agreement set aside on the grounds set forth in *Casto v. Casto*, 508 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1987).

ARGUMENT

I. THE SEPARATION AGREEMENT ENTERED INTO BY THE PARTIES
DURING THEIR FIRST DIVORCE SHOULD BE DEEMED ABROGATED BY
THEIR RECONCILIATION AND REMARRIAGE

The trial court denied Mrs. Cox any share in Mr. Cox's military retirement benefits. In so doing, the court addressed only the argument that the marital settlement agreement from the parties' first divorce should have been set aside due to "concealment by the husband" or "real lack of knowledge by the wife at the time the agreement was reached." R104. The court ignored the Wife's contention that, under present Florida law, the well-settled rule that a subsequent reconciliation voids a marital settlement agreement applies to reconciliation by remarriage after divorce.

In the instant case, if the parties' prior agreement, incorporated in the Guam divorce decree, was voided by the parties' remarriage, then Mr. Cox's prospective retirement benefits which accrued during the combined period of both marriages would be marital assets subject to equitable distribution. See Florida Statutes, § 61.076 (1991). No facts in this case were adduced which justified awarding the Wife less than half of that marital asset. Therefore, the court below should have awarded the Wife a proportionate share of those benefits, which would have been 26.5% of those benefits. Florida Statutes, § 61.076.

The parties were remarried in November,1989. The final hearing was held in July, 1991. Thus, an additional one year and eleven months of the Husband's military service (continued...)

During the parties' first marriage, the Husband reactivated his military status effective May,1979. The parties were divorced in March,1988. Thus, eight years and ten months of the Husband's military service occurred during the parties' first marriage.

As the Wife has contended throughout these proceedings, the longstanding rule in Florida has been that, absent evidence of a contrary intention, a subsequent reconciliation will void a prior marital settlement agreement. This rule is subject to a narrow exception concerning terms contained in an agreement which the parties have already executed or complied with prior to the reconciliation. Those executed terms may not be affected by a subsequent reconciliation, absent a reconveyance or other affirmative evidence of intention to disayow the execution.

The First District Court of Appeal [hereinafter First DCA] rejected this characterization of Florida law. Rather, the First DCA adopted an "abuse of discretion" test concerning the determination whether a prior marital settlement agreement should be deemed abrogated by a subsequent reconciliation. The court found that the trial judge had abused his discretion in failing to abrogate the agreement entered into by the parties during their previous divorce.

The Husband's argument concerning the effect of reconciliation on a prior marital settlement agreement is unclear. In the First DCA, Husband argued that the Florida rule is that abrogation should be found only in the presence of additional, special circumstances, such as "fraud, concealment, and undue influence." Husband's Answer Brief in the First DCA at 17. (Of course, under present Florida law, a

A total of ten and one half years of the Husband's military service occurred during the marriage. The Husband is eligible to retire at twenty years. One-half of 10.5 years divided by 20 years = one half of 53% = 26.5%.

¹(...continued) occurred during the parties' second marriage.

separation agreement can be set aside on such grounds, whether or not the parties have reconciled; therefore, in Husband's view, the reconciliation would be irrelevant.)

Here, however, Husband argues that "in the event of reconciliation or remarriage a prior marital settlement should be considered valid and enforceable unless the parties by their subsequent actions demonstrate an intent to rescind or abandon the agreement." Husband's Initial Brief to this Court at 23.

A. Historically, Florida courts have held that the unexecuted provisions of a previous marital settlement agreement are abrogated by the reconciliation of the parties.

In 1940, this Court held,

It appears to be well settled that reconciliation of husband and wife and resumption of marital relations for any period of time will render a previous contract and settlement of property rights void[.]

Weeks v. Weeks, 197 So. 393, 395 (Fla. 1940) (citing Dillon v. Dillon, 103 Neb.
322, 171 N.W. 917; Cole v. Waldrop, 204 Ky. 703, 265 S.W. 174; Harrison v.
Harrison, 201 Mo. App. 465, 211 S.W. 708; Carl v. Carl, 166 N.Y.S. 961; Graves v.
Graves, 174 N.Y.S. 615; Ahrens v. Ahrens, 67 Okl. 147, 169 P. 486, 40 A.L.R.
1229).

However, where an agreement contains terms that the parties have already executed or complied with prior to the reconciliation, e.g. by transferring title to real property, then this Court found that those executed terms *may* not be affected by a subsequent reconciliation, absent a reconveyance or other affirmative evidence of

intention to disavow the execution. *Miller v. West Palm Beach Atlantic Nat. Bank et al.*, 194 So. 230 (Fla. 1940).

In *Miller*, the husband and wife had entered into a separation agreement, whereby the wife released all interest in the husband's property and, in consideration for this release, the husband conveyed a house and certain lots to the wife.

Thereafter, the parties reconciled. However, the wife never reconveyed an interest in the property back to the husband. After the wife's death, the husband contested her will leaving the land to a trustee, arguing that the deed was voided by the reconciliation. The court held that the conveyance was in the nature of a "voluntary settlement" and therefore would not be voided by a subsequent reconciliation.

Being an executed contract and in the nature of a settlement, and title and right of possession having passed, the subsequent reconciliation does not abrogate the deed[.]

Miller v. West Palm Beach Atlantic Nat. Bank et al., 194 So. at 231-232 (emphasis added).

The *Miller* court quoted *Dudley v. Fifth Ave. Trust Co.*, 115 App. Div. 396, 100 N.Y.S. 934, *affirmed*, 188 N.Y. 565, 80. N.E. 1109, to explain the distinction:

The [Dudley] court, in holding that [a marital settlement] contract [in which the wife assigned the husband's life insurance policy to the husband], the benefits of which were not to be realized until sometime in the future, was abrogated by subsequent reconciliation, made the following statement:

"If the wife in consideration of the separation agreement, had conveyed to a trustee, or other person, a piece of real estate, the title and right of enjoyment and possession would have passed at once to the grantee, and would not have reverted by the mere fact of reconciliation, without a reconveyance."

Miller v. West Palm Beach Atlantic Nat. Bank et al., 194 So. 230, 231, quoting Dudley v. Fifth Ave. Trust Co., 115 App. Div. 396, 100 N.Y.S. 934, affirmed, 188 N.Y. 565, 80 N.E. 1109 (emphasis added).

This exception to the general rule that reconciliation voids a prior property settlement agreement has been a narrow one. In *Zullo v. Zullo*, 317 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), *writ discharged*, 342 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1977), as part of a property settlement agreement the husband executed a release and quit claim deed to a purchase money note and mortgage; the parties subsequently reconciled. In the divorce action that followed, the release and quit claim deed were held to be voided by the reconciliation and the husband was entitled to his one-half interest in the note and mortgage.

The results in *Zullo* and *Miller* suggest that the distinction is not merely between executed and non-executed provisions but, as *Dudley* holds, between agreements in which the benefit has been realized and those in which benefits are to be realized in the future. Since ownership of the note and mortgage conveyed a prospective benefit, Mr. Zullo would be entitled to receive his share of the prospective mortgage payments. *Zullo v. Zullo*, 317 So. 2d at 454.

In *Carter v. Carter*, 309 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), *Delgado v. Cota De Lopez*, 546 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), and *Thomas v. Thomas*, 571 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), the rule that reconciliation voids a waiver of property rights made in a prior settlement agreement was held to apply to remarriage following

divorce, as well as to reconciliation following legal or actual separation.2

In *Carter*, the surviving spouse's homestead rights were awarded a divorced wife who had resumed living with her husband, the court recognizing the existence of a post-divorce common law marriage. In *Delgado*, inheritance rights of a surviving spouse, waived in a previous marital settlement agreement and divorce, were awarded a surviving husband, whose subsequent remarriage to his wife was held to have voided the waiver of those rights in the marital settlement agreement.

In **Thomas**, the court found not only that the duration of the parties' previous marriage should be considered in awarding alimony to the wife but also that property transferred to the husband in the property settlement agreement preceding the parties' first divorce should be considered marital assets subject to equitable distribution in the second divorce.

Under the principle enunciated in *Weeks*, and the extension of that principle to remarriage of the parties to each other, **see** *Delgado*; *Weston*, the 1985 property settlement agreement entered into in this case should be considered void by virtue of the parties' remarriage to each other. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion in failing to set aside the prior property settlement agreement, for purposes of an equitable distribution of the marital assets in this case.

Thomas v. Thomas, 571 So. 2d at 506.

A majority of other jurisdictions appear to follow the rule concerning abrogation of executory provisions of a prior settlement agreement by virtue of the reconciliation

Other cases hold that remarriage following divorce voids alimony and child support provisions agreed upon in the previous divorce, *e.g.*, *Weston v. Weston*, 483 So.2d 822 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); *Mills v. Mills*, 460 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

of the parties.

Most courts hold that where the parties to a separation agreement thereafter reconcile their differences and resume the marital relationship, the separation agreement is terminated so far as executory obligations thereunder are concerned, but the separation agreement is not abrogated so far as executed provisions of the agreement are concerned.

Yeich v. Yeich, 399 S.E.2d 170, 172-173 (Va. App. 1990), (citing 1 Nelson on Divorce and Annulment § 13.14 (2d ed. 1945); 1 Lindey on Separation

Agreements and Antenuptial Contracts § 9.05 (Rev. ed. 1990); Brazina v. Brazina, 558 A.2d 69 (N.J. Super. Ct. 1990); Kaminsky v. Kaminsky, 364 S.E.2d 799 (W. Va. 1987); Cariton v. Cariton, 329 S.E.2d 682 (N.C. App. 1985)). See also In re

Estate of Adamee, 230 S.E.2d 541 (N.C. 1976); Miller v. Miller, 616 P.2d 313 (Mont. 1980); Annotation, "Reconciliation as affecting separation agreement or decree," 35 A.L.R.2d 707.

The rule promotes important public policy objectives. As noted in *Carter v.*Carter, "the policy of the law and of the courts is to lend assistance and protection to
... married couples in extending or renewing a lawful union." 309 So. 2d at 628.

By encompassing property distribution as well as alimony and child support, the rule promotes reconciliation by protecting the remarrying spouses from being prejudiced by a subsequent divorce. Since the role of the courts is to fashion an overall scheme that is fair to both parties, the courts should be free to reconsider equitable distribution in a later proceeding in which circumstances may dictate a different result as to alimony or child support. **See McMahan v. McMahan**, 567 So. 2d 976, 979-980 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (where change in federal law required reduction

of wife's entitlement to husband's military retirement benefits attributable to disability pay, the trial court should reconsider the entire equitable distribution scheme to avoid prejudice to the wife).

B. The First District Court of Appeal has adopted an "abuse of discretion" test to review the determination of a trial court whether or not to deem a prior marital settlement agreement abrogated by the subsequent reconciliation of the parties.

The First DCA correctly pointed out that its precedents have followed an "abuse of discretion" standard. In *Mills v. Mills*, 460 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the court's decision turned on "the particular circumstances of [the] case" and also on one of the terms of the agreement itself, providing "that only 'matters dealing with property division shall continue to be binding' in the event of reconciliation." *Id.* at 546. The court expressly stated:

We do not conclude that, as a matter of law, reconciliation abrogates all settlement agreements.

ld.

In *Thomas v. Thomas*, 571 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), an "abuse of discretion" standard was applied. However, somewhat confusingly, the abuse found by the court seemed to flow as much from the trial court's failure to follow *Weeks*, which *does* conclude as a matter of law that reconciliation abrogates all executory provisions of a prior settlement agreement, as from the trial court's failure to consider the wife's contributions to the first marriage, the wife's present circumstances, and other factors. *Id.* at 506.

The First DCA noted that the "abuse of discretion" approach is most in keeping with the precepts of *Canakaris*. Indeed, the factors considered by that court in *Thomas* and in the instant case are analogous to those held relevant in *Canakaris* to the making of a fair determination, such as the contributions of the wife made during *both* marriages, the assets available to both spouses, the earning capacity of both spouses, and the genuineness of the reconciliation.

C. The Husband's proposed rule -- that a marital settlement agreement should not be abrogated by subsequent reconciliation unless there is evidence that the parties intended to abrogate that agreement -- is not supported by case law or public policy considerations.

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